6

ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

\_\_\_\_\_  
Appeal from Richland County.

Howard P. King, Circuit Court Judge  
\_\_\_\_\_

RECEIVED

NOV 15 2016

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

BRANDON J. BERRY,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2015-002557

\_\_\_\_\_  
FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT  
\_\_\_\_\_

LARA M. CAUDY  
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense  
Division of Appellate Defense  
P.O. Box 11589  
Columbia, SC 29211-1589  
(803) 734-1343

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1.

Did the court err by finding Appellant did not have a reasonable expectation of privacy in the apartment leased by his girlfriend and the mother of his child to challenge the warrantless search of the home under the Fourth Amendment when Appellant frequently slept at the apartment, kept clothes and various belongings there, occasionally had a key, had the authority to exclude others from the apartment, engaged in domestic activities in the home, and had known and dated the owner for nearly five years?

2.

Did the court abuse its discretion by finding Appellant's girlfriend voluntarily consented to a search of her apartment when an investigator with the Richland County Sheriff's Department threatened to have the Department of Social Services (DSS) remove her minor child from her custody if she refused to consent and prove she could provide a safe home for the child?

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A Richland County Grand Jury indicted Appellant at the February 11, 2015 term of the Court of General Sessions for attempted murder, resisting arrest, unlawful carrying of a pistol, and unlawful conduct towards a child, and at the September 9, 2015 term for attempted armed robbery. R. 629-638. His case was called to trial on November 30, 2015 before the Honorable Howard P. King, and a jury. R. 1. Assistant Solicitors K. Luck Campbell, Meghan Walker, and John W. Steadman represented the state, and Aimee J. Zmroczek represented Appellant. R. 1.

On December 4, 2015, the jury found Appellant guilty as indicted. R. 609, 1. 25 – 610, 1. 15. Judge King sentenced him to twenty years imprisonment for attempted murder, twenty years concurrent for attempted armed robbery, one year concurrent for resisting arrest, one year concurrent for the weapons offense, and five years consecutive for unlawful conduct towards a child. R. 627, 1. 13 – 628, 1. 18. The aggregate sentence was twenty five years imprisonment.

This appeal follows.

## STATEMENT OF FACTS

On July 29, 2014, Michael Keith returned to his apartment around 4:00 am after hosting “Knuckle Up,” a legal boxing event at a nightclub in Columbia. R. 148, l. 21 – 150, l. 9. Keith hosted events at various nightclubs throughout the Columbia area and often returned home during the early morning hours with a large amount of cash. R. 150, ll. 21-25.

After parking his car, Keith got out, retrieved his bag from inside, and shut the door. When he looked up, he saw “an individual standing behind him” who “looked like death because he had on black everything: black mask, black shoes, just black everything.” The man pointed a gun at Keith and demanded, “Give me the keys and give me the money.” When Keith did not respond, the man said, “I’m gonna count down. If you don’t give me the money by the time I count down, I’m gonna kill you.” R. 150, l. 10 – 151, l. 21.

As the man was counting down, Keith decided to run. Both men began to run around the car. As they were circling the car, the man jumped on top of the car and began walking towards Keith. Keith ran towards his apartment door, but fell before he reached the door. The man jumped on top of Keith and continued to demand his money and keys. When Keith still refused, the man hit him with the gun and then shot him in the leg. R. 151, l. 23 – 153, l. 14. As the man was pointing the gun at Keith’s head, his girlfriend, who heard the commotion, came outside on the porch and yelled, “What are you doing?” R. 143, l. 18 – 145, l. 1; R. 153, l. 20 – 154, l. 8. While the man was distracted, Keith punched him in the stomach area and the man took off. R. 154, ll. 13-14.

With the help of his girlfriend, Keith was able to make it inside his apartment where he waited for law enforcement and EMS to arrive. R. 156, ll. 3-9. He was transported by ambulance to the hospital where he underwent surgery. The gunshot fractured his tibia and he needed surgery to stabilize the fracture. R. 257, ll. 1-22.

While processing the scene, law enforcement collected two nine millimeter shell casings. R. 190, ll. 19-24; R. 192, ll. 6-12; R. 193, ll. 20-22; R. 196, ll. 7-18; R. 198, ll. 14-18. Investigators also had Keith's vehicle towed to the "forensic garage" at the Richland County Sheriff's Department so they could process it in a "controlled environment." R. 199, ll. 3-24. While processing the vehicle, an investigator lifted five latent fingerprints and numerous footwear impressions that were on top of the vehicle. R. 315, l. 15 – 317, l. 20.

About six hours later, Deputy Pennington with the Richland County Sheriff's Department stopped a car on Zimalcrest Drive just off of Broad River Road after he observed the occupants driving without seatbelts. R. 219, ll. 2-19. Nickilous Wallace was the driver of this vehicle and Appellant was the front seat passenger. During the course of the traffic stop, Wallace was asked to get out of the car. R. 220, l. 24 – 221, l. 5. As Deputy Pennington was speaking with Wallace at the rear of the car, Appellant moved to the driver's seat and fled in the vehicle. He drove through an apartment complex until he eventually stopped the car and then continued to flee on foot. R. 221, l. 12 – 222, l. 1. Deputy Pennington ultimately apprehended Appellant as he was climbing over a fence. R. 222, l. 12 – 223, l. 8.

During the chase, Pennington allegedly saw Appellant toss an object. R. 222, ll. 22-25; R. 225, ll. 3-4. After Appellant was arrested, Pennington returned to the location where he thought he saw Appellant throw this object. He eventually discovered two black bags. Inside one of the bags were two black masks, gloves, zip ties, and various clothing items. Inside the other black bag were some diapers and a Glock nine millimeter handgun. R. 229, l. 6 – 231, l. 1.

When Wallace and Appellant were stopped, Appellant's two year old daughter was sitting in the backseat. She was not properly secured in a child car seat as required by law. R. 222, ll. 2-11; R. 289, ll. 7-11. When Appellant fled in the car, his daughter remained unsecured in the backseat. R.

222, ll. 12-19. The child's mother, Lourisa Katio, was notified at work of her daughter's involvement in the traffic stop. Katio left work and drove to the location of the stop to pick up her daughter. R. 266, l. 20 – 267, l. 4; R. 268, l. 3 – 269, l. 23.

When Katio arrived, she told officers Appellant was at her apartment the night before until around 9:00 or 10:00 pm and that he had returned to the apartment around 5:00 am that morning. R. 270, l. 14 – R. 271, l. 23. Investigator Carwell, who was investigating the attempted armed robbery of Michael Keith, threatened to call the Department of Social Services (DSS) if Katio could not prove she could provide a safe home for the child. Carwell claimed he wanted to search Katio's apartment for weapons since a gun was found in her daughter's diaper bag. Because he continued to threaten to call DSS, Katio ultimately consented to a search of her apartment and signed a consent to search form. R. 272, ll. 8-23; R. 275, l. 23 – 276, l. 23; R. 277, ll. 23-25.

During the search of Katio's apartment, Investigator Carwell asked Katio to identify all of Appellant's belongings that were inside the home. She pointed out a pair of black jeans in her bedroom closet and a pair of black shoes right outside the closet door and said they belonged to Appellant. R. 454, l. 17 – 456, l. 23. Carwell seized these items. R. 272, l. 24 – 274, l. 20.

There were "reddish-brown stains" on the jeans and shoes that were later confirmed to be blood. R. 457, ll. 3-5. An agent with the South Carolina Law Enforcement Division (SLED) performed DNA testing and determined the blood stains from the black jeans matched the DNA profile of Michael Keith. R. 359, l. 4 – 361, l. 4; R. 369, l. 9 – 370, l. 2.

Additionally, SLED concluded that the two nine millimeter shell casings collected from the scene outside Keith's apartment were fired by the Glock nine millimeter handgun discovered in the black bag Appellant allegedly tossed while he was fleeing from Deputy Pennington. R. 400, l. 4 – 402, l. 11. Also, while the results were "inconclusive" because there were no "individual

characteristics” to compare, the size, design, and shape along with the “wear characteristics” of the black shoes seized from Katio’s apartment were consistent with the footwear impressions lifted from Keith’s car. R. 335, l. 19 – 340, l. 5.

The jury ultimately found Appellant guilty of attempted murder, attempted armed robbery, unlawful conduct towards a child, resisting arrest, and unlawful carrying of a pistol. R. 609, l. 25 – 610, l. 15.

## ARGUMENT

1.

The court erred by finding Appellant did not have a reasonable expectation of privacy in the apartment leased by his girlfriend and the mother of his child to challenge the warrantless search of the home under the Fourth Amendment when Appellant frequently slept at the apartment, kept clothes and various belongings there, occasionally had a key, had the authority to exclude others from the apartment, engaged in domestic activities in the home, and had known and dated the owner for nearly five years.

### **Motion to Suppress**

Defense counsel moved pretrial to suppress the evidence seized from Lourisa Katio's apartment on grounds that her consent to search was involuntarily given due to the threats made by Investigator Carwell involving DSS. The court conducted a pretrial hearing on Appellant's motion. R. 16, ll. 1-7.

Before hearing testimony, the state argued Appellant did not have "standing to contest" the search of Katio's apartment because "[h]e didn't live there, it's not his house." R. 33, ll. 17-25. Defense counsel argued the testimony would show Appellant had a child in common with Katio, that he often spent the night at her apartment, and that he "had a multitude of his personal items there." R. 34, ll. 9-20.

Lourisa Katio testified *in camera* that Appellant lived at her apartment "on occasion" depending on the status of their relationship. The two were "in and out" of dating. However, Katio said that during the month immediately before the search, Appellant "was there [at her apartment] more than he wasn't there." She also testified that Appellant spent the night at her apartment the

night before the search and that he kept his personal items there. Also, Appellant “[s]ometimes” had a key. R. 82, l. 9 – 83, l. 4.

Katio later clarified that when Appellant spent the night at her apartment, he slept in her bedroom with her. This is where he slept the previous two nights before the search. She also explained that some of Appellant’s belongings were in her bedroom, “but mainly Brandon’s [Appellant’s] stuff was in the living room.” R. 84, l. 23 – 85, l. 9; R. 92, ll. 18-22. According to Katio, Appellant would “[s]ometimes” have friends spend the night at the apartment and “entertain” guests at the apartment, but “not regularly.” R. 92, l. 23 – 93, l. 7. However, whenever Appellant was at the apartment, he had the authority to invite people over and order people to leave. R. 93, ll. 18-21.

When questioned by the assistant solicitor, Katio said Appellant’s name was not on the lease to the apartment. The only people listed on the lease were Katio, her daughter, and her grandmother. However, Appellant still spent the night often. R. 90, ll. 1-18.

Destiny Katio, Lourisa Katio’s sister, testified that Appellant stayed at Katio’s apartment “off and on sometimes depending on the relationship.” She did not know whether Appellant kept his personal belongings there or whether he had a key, but she testified that he helped pay the bills for the apartment “[w]hen he could.” R. 96, ll. 5-21.

### **Arguments of Counsel**

The solicitor argued “there was no testimony that he [Appellant] had a key at the time, there was no testimony that he was on the lease, there was no testimony that he stayed there on a regular

basis, just that he stayed there sometimes.” R. 105, ll. 20-24. The state maintained this evidence established Appellant did not have “standing” to challenge the search of Katio’s apartment.<sup>1</sup>

Defense counsel argued Appellant was an overnight guest and thus had an expectation of privacy in the apartment. She maintained the testimony established Appellant: (1) slept at the apartment “on and off,” (2) stayed at the apartment the night before the search, (3) sometimes had a key, (4) had the right to exclude others from the apartment, (5) had known the owner for five years and they have a child together, (6) kept his belongings at the apartment, and (7) engaged in domestic activities in the home as opposed to commercial activities. Based on our Supreme Court’s holding in State v. Robinson, 410 S.C. 519, 528-530, 765 S.E.2d 564, 569-570 (2014), counsel argued these factors established Appellant had “standing” to challenge the search. R. 108, l. 25 – 110, l. 7.

### **Court’s Ruling**

The court found Appellant had “no reasonable expectation of privacy in the property search[ed] as required to prove a violation of his Fourth Amendment rights.” R. 117, ll. 14-17. The court based this finding largely on the fact that Appellant was not listed on the lease and was not “the primary person in control” of the apartment. R. 116, l. 25 – 117, l. 5. The court stated:

He [Appellant] did spend some nights there, but much of his property was left in the front room. He may have had some dominion and control to exclude others, but clearly from the testimony the primary person in control was Lourisa Katio. At best he was the father of a child they had in common, but at the time he was a sometime or part-time boyfriend who spent some nights on the premises. There was no legal relationship between the parties, they were not married legally or even a common law marriage. There’s no evidence he paid rent, participated in domestic activities or claimed a proprietary or possessory interest in the property or to attempt to keep his activities in the home private.

---

<sup>1</sup> In State v. Missouri, 361 S.C. 107, 111 n.2, 603 S.E.2d 594, 595 n.2 (2004), our Supreme Court stated, “The United States Supreme Court has expressly rejected the application of an analysis based on the standing doctrine; instead, the analysis is based on substantive Fourth Amendment law. The use of the term ‘standing’ has created confusion in this context, and therefore ‘standing’ is no longer appropriate to ‘connote the legitimate expectation of privacy in the evidence seized or the premises searched.’” (internal citations omitted).

R. 117, ll. 1-13.

### **Discussion**

The court erred by finding Appellant did not have a reasonable expectation of privacy in the apartment leased by Lourisa Katio, who was his girlfriend and the mother of his child, to challenge the warrantless search of the home under the Fourth Amendment since Appellant was clearly an overnight guest. Appellant frequently slept at the apartment, including the night before the search, kept clothes and other belongings there, occasionally had a key, had the authority to exclude others from the apartment, engaged in domestic activities in the home, and had known and dated Katio for nearly five years. It is obvious from the evidence that Katio chose to share the privacy of her apartment with Appellant on countless occasions and thus he had an actual and reasonable expectation of privacy in the apartment.

“The Fourth Amendment guarantees individuals the right to be free from unreasonable searches and seizures.” State v. Missouri, 361 S.C. 107, 112, 603 S.E.2d 594, 596 (2004) (citing U.S. Const. amend. IV and S.C. Const. art. I, § 10). To claim protection under the Fourth Amendment, a defendant must show he has a legitimate expectation of privacy in the place searched. Id. (citing Rakas v. Illinois, 439 U.S. 128, 143 (1978)). “A legitimate expectation of privacy is both subjective and objective in nature: the defendant must show (1) he had a subjective expectation of not being discovered, and (2) the expectation is one that society recognizes as reasonable.” Id. (citing Oliver v. United States, 466 U.S. 170, 177 (1984)).

In Minnesota v. Olsen, 495 U.S. 91 (1990), the United States Supreme Court found an overnight guest had a reasonable expectation of privacy in another’s home. While the Court did not articulate what constituted an overnight guest, it stated generally, “From the overnight guest’s perspective, he seeks shelter in another’s home precisely because it provides him with privacy, a

place where he and his possessions will not be disturbed by anyone but his host and those his host allows inside.” Id. at 99; Missouri, 361 S.C. at 113, 603 S.E.2d at 597.

In Missouri, our Supreme Court held the defendant had a reasonable expectation of privacy in the searched apartment when he (1) was good friends with the owner, (2) frequently visited the apartment, (3) occasionally spent the night, (4) at times had a key, and (5) kept a change of clothes there. Missouri, 361 S.C. at 115, 603 S.E.2d at 597-598. The Court held the defendant demonstrated a subjective expectation of privacy in the apartment and therefore was entitled to challenge the search under the Fourth Amendment. Id. at 115, 603 S.E.2d at 597-598.

In Kolle v. State, 386 S.C. 578, 590, 690 S.E.2d 73, 79 (2010), our Supreme Court held, “The fact that Kolle did not own or lease the apartment that was searched does not negate his standing to challenge the search and subsequent seizure.” The Court emphasized its previous holding “that an overnight guest has a reasonable expectation of privacy, the legal prerequisite to confer standing on an individual.” Id. (internal citations omitted). The Court concluded Kolle had a reasonable expectation of privacy in the searched apartment when the person who leased the apartment “befriended Kolle and permitted him to stay for an extended period of time at the residence.” Id.

In Minnesota v. Carter, 525 U.S. 83, 90 (1998), the United States Supreme Court “held that the defendants did not have a reasonable expectation of privacy in the home of another when the nature of the defendant’s visit was purely commercial, the visit was short, and there was no previous connection between the defendants and the lessee.” Missouri, 361 S.C. at 114, 603 S.E.2d at 597 (citing Carter, 525 U.S. at 90).

Recently, in State v. Robinson, 410 S.C. 519, 528-530, 765 S.E.2d 564, 569-570, (2014), our Supreme Court held the following factors may be considered when determining whether a

defendant has a reasonable expectation of privacy to challenge a search or seizure: (1) whether the defendant owned the home or had property rights to it; (2) whether he was an overnight guest at the home; (3) whether he kept a change of clothes at the home; (4) whether he had a key to the home; (5) whether he had dominion and control over the home and could exclude others from the home; (6) how long he had known the owner of the home; (7) how long he had been at the home; (8) whether he attempted to keep his activities in the home private; (9) whether he engaged in typical domestic activities at the home, or whether he treated it as a commercial establishment; (10) whether he alleged a propriety or possessory interest in the premises and property seized; and (11) whether he paid rent at the home.

Here, Katio testified she had known Appellant for nearly five years and throughout their “on again, off again” relationship, Appellant frequently slept at her apartment and kept his clothing and other belongings there. In the month prior to the contested search, Katio maintained Appellant “was there [at the apartment] more than he wasn’t there.” R. 83, ll. 1-4. Significantly, Appellant slept at the apartment the night before or the morning of the search. Moreover, Katio’s testimony established Appellant: (1) sometimes had a key, (2) invited friends over and could exclude others from the home, and (3) used the apartment for domestic activities, such as sleeping.

It is clear based on this testimony that Appellant was an overnight guest and that Katio chose to share the privacy of her home with Appellant on countless occasions over the course of several years. See Missouri, 361 S.C. at 115, 603 S.E.2d at 597-598. Thus, Appellant had an actual and reasonable expectation of privacy in the apartment and could challenge the search of the home pursuant to the Fourth Amendment. The trial court erred by finding otherwise.

When making its ruling, the trial court incorrectly emphasized the fact that Appellant was not listed on the lease, was not “the primary person in control” of the apartment, and had no legal

relationship to Katio, the lessee. However, these facts do not negate Appellant's legal right to challenge the search of the apartment and subsequent seizure. Kolle, 386 S.C. at 590, 690 S.E.2d at 79.

Respectfully, this Court should reverse the ruling of the trial court and hold Appellant had a reasonable expectation of privacy in the apartment and could challenge the search of the home pursuant to the Fourth Amendment.

The court abused its discretion by finding Appellant's girlfriend voluntarily consented to a search of her apartment when an investigator with the Richland County Sheriff's Department threatened to have the Department of Social Services (DSS) remove her minor child from her custody if she refused to consent and prove she could provide a safe home for the child.

### **Relevant Facts**

Defense counsel moved pretrial to suppress the evidence seized from Lourisa Katio's apartment on grounds that her consent to search was involuntarily given due to the threats made by Investigator Carwell involving DSS. The court conducted a pretrial hearing on Appellant's motion. R. 16, ll. 1-7.

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