**ORIGINAL**

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Court of Appeals

---

APPEAL FROM RICHLAND COUNTY  
Howard P. King, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2015-002557

---

RECEIVED

NOV 14 2016

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE,

Respondent,

v.

BRANDON JOSEPH BERRY,

Appellant.

---

**FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**

---

ALAN WILSON  
Attorney General

MEGAN HARRIGAN JAMESON  
Assistant Attorney General  
S.C. Bar No. 100108

Post Office Box 11549  
Columbia, South Carolina 29211  
(803) 734-3727

DANIEL E. JOHNSON  
Solicitor, Fifth Judicial Circuit

Post Office Box 192  
Columbia, South Carolina 29202  
(803) 57601800

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

**

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

## **ANALYSIS**

### **A. Propriety of the Trial Court’s Finding Appellant Lacked a Reasonable Expectation of Privacy to Challenge the Search of Katio’s apartment**

The Fourth Amendment protects against unreasonable searches and seizures. U.S. Const. amend. IV. For purposes of the Fourth Amendment, a search occurs when “an expectation of privacy that society is prepared to consider reasonable is infringed.” United States v. Jacobsen, 466 U.S. 109, 113 (1984). Likewise, a seizure occurs when there is some meaningful interference with an individual's possessory interest in property or with the individual’s freedom of movement. Id.; see Terry v. Ohio, 392 U.S. 1, 16, n. 16 (1968) (“Only when the officer, by means of physical force or show of authority, has in some way restrained the liberty of a citizen may we conclude that a ‘seizure’ has occurred.”).

Importantly, before a criminal defendant can challenge the propriety of a search or seizure, the defendant seeking to raise such a challenge must establish that his own personal Fourth Amendment rights were violated by that search or seizure in order to be entitled to the

benefits of the exclusionary rule. State v. McKnight, 291 S.C. 110, 114, 352 S.E.2d 471, 473 (1987); see Rakas v. Illinois, 439 U.S. 128, 132, n. 1 (1978) (“The proponent of a motion to suppress has the burden of establishing that his own Fourth Amendment rights were violated by the challenged search or seizure.”). That is true because rights protected by the Fourth Amendment are personal rights and cannot be vicariously asserted. Alderman v. United States, 394 U.S. 165, 174 (1969).

Significantly, “capacity to claim the protection of the Fourth Amendment depends not upon a property right in the invaded place but upon whether the person who claims the protection of the Amendment has a legitimate expectation of privacy in the invaded place.” Rakas, 439 U.S. at 143 (citing Katz v. United States, 389 U.S. 347, 353 (1967)). A legitimate expectation of privacy is both subjective and objective in nature. State v. Missouri, 361 S.C. 107, 112, 603 S.E.2d 594, 596 (2004). In order to establish a legitimate expectation of privacy, an individual must show: (1) the individual had a subjective expectation that the area searched would remain free from intrusion; and (2) the individual’s subjective expectation is one that society recognizes as reasonable. Id.; see Minnesota v. Olsen, 495 U.S. 91, 95-96 (1990) (instructing a subjective expectation of privacy can be considered legitimate if it is one society accepts and recognizes as reasonable).

“[T]he Fourth Amendment is not triggered unless a person has an actual and reasonable expectation of privacy or unless the government commits a common-law trespass for the purpose of obtaining information.” State v. Brown, 414 S.C. 14, 23, 776 S.E.2d 917, 922 (Ct. App. 2015) (quoting State v. Robinson, 410 S.C. 519, 527, 765 S.E.2d 564, 568 (2014) (internal citations omitted)). In Robinson, our Supreme Court set forth factors courts may consider when determining whether the criminal defendant met his burden of proving a reasonable expectation

of privacy in the property that was searched, as required to prove a violation of his Fourth Amendment rights, such as:

- a) whether the defendant owned the home or had property rights to it;
- b) whether he was an overnight guest at the home;
- c) whether he kept a change of clothes at the home;
- d) whether he had a key to the home;
- e) whether he had dominion and control over the home and could exclude others from the home;
- f) how long he had known the owner of the home;
- g) how long he had been at the home;
- h) whether he attempted to keep his activities in the home private;
- i) whether he engaged in typical domestic activities at the home, or whether he treated it as a commercial establishment;
- j) whether he alleged a proprietary or possessory interest in the premises and property seized (even if only at a motion to suppress, where that admission cannot be used against him to determine his guilt); and
- k) whether he paid rent at the home.

Robinson, 410 S.C. at 528-30, 765 S.E.2d at 569-70 (internal citations omitted).

During a motion to suppress, the State bears the burden to demonstrate that it was entitled to conduct the search or seizure under an exception to the Fourth Amendment's warrant requirement, including consent. State v. Gamble, 405 S.C. 409, 416, 747 S.E.2d 784, 787 (2013). "However, the criminal defendant retains the burden to establish that he is asserting his own Fourth Amendment rights, rather than vicariously asserting the rights of others; therefore, the defendant bears the burden to demonstrate that he had an actual and reasonable expectation of

privacy in the place illegally searched.” Robinson, 410 S.C. at 530, 765 S.E.2d at 570 (citing Rakas, 439 U.S. at 130 n. 1, 99 S.Ct. 421).

In the present case, the trial court properly determined Appellant had no reasonable expectation of privacy in Katio’s apartment after considering the proper factors as required under Robinson. (R. 116-18). In reaching its determination, the trial court noted evidence and testimony presented established the lease was not in Appellant’s name, he only spent the night occasionally, most of his belongings were not in the bedroom, Katio had primary dominion and control over the apartment, Appellant did not pay rent, Appellant did not participate in domestic activities in the home, Appellant had no proprietary or possessory interest in the apartment, and Appellant did not attempt to keep his activities in the home private. (R. 116-17). This ruling is supported by evidence in the record, and therefore, and must be affirmed on appellate review.

A review of the factors set forth by the Supreme Court in Robinson establishes there is evidence to support the trial court’s ruling. The evidence presented during the suppression hearing established Appellant had no property rights to the home. He was occasionally an overnight guest at the home, but crucially, did not spend the night prior to the search at the home. Appellant presented no testimony that he kept a change of clothing at the time. While there was testimony that Appellant did occasionally have a key to Katio’s apartment, it is unclear whether Appellant had a key to the apartment at the time of the search. Additionally, Katio’s testimony established that Appellant rarely had guests over to the apartment. There is no evidence that Appellant engaged in typical domestic activities in the home or paid rent at the time of the search. While Appellant and Katio had previously been in a tumultuous relationship for five years, the record establishes Appellant had another girlfriend at the time of the search and Katio was aware of this relationship. Perhaps Appellant had previously had a reasonable expectation of

privacy at Katio's apartment in the past, but he did not satisfy his burden of establishing one at the time of the search.

Despite the evidence and testimony in the record to support the trial court's determination that Appellant did not have a reasonable expectation of privacy in Katio's home, Appellant asserts he was an overnight guest and therefore shared the privacy of the apartment with Katio. However, it is important to note that Appellant did **not** spend the evening at Katio's apartment, but rather, was at the home until approximately 9 or 10 p.m. in the evening and did not return to the home until 5 or 6 a.m. the next morning to watch his daughter when Katio went to work.

Appellant could not properly challenge the propriety of the search of Katio's apartment in light of the fact he had no expectation of privacy in the apartment. See Rawlings v. Kentucky, 448 U.S. 98, 104 (1980) ("Petitioner, of course, bears the burden of proving not only that the search of Cox's purse was illegal, but also that he had a legitimate expectation of privacy in that purse."); McKnight, 291 S.C. at 114, 352 S.E.2d at 473 ("One who seeks to have evidence suppressed on this basis must establish that his *own* Fourth Amendment rights were violated."). Therefore, Appellant could not properly object to the admission of the incriminating evidence discovered during the search of Katio's apartment, and the trial court properly denied Appellant's suppression motion. See United States v. Salvucci, 448 U.S. 83, 85 (1980) ("[D]efendants charged with crimes of possession may only claim the benefits of the exclusionary rule if their own Fourth Amendment rights have in fact been violated."); Rakas, 439 U.S. at 134 ("A person who is aggrieved by an illegal search and seizure only through the introduction of damaging evidence secured by a search or a third person's premises or property has not had any of his Fourth Amendment rights infringed."). Appellant's convictions should be affirmed.

## **B. Propriety of the Trial Court's Finding Katio's Consent to Search was Voluntary**

The Fourth Amendment prohibits unreasonable searches and seizures. U.S. Const. amend. IV. For purposes of the Fourth Amendment, a search occurs when “an expectation of privacy that society is prepared to consider reasonable is infringed.” Jacobsen, 466 U.S. at 113. Generally speaking, any evidence seized as the result of an unreasonable search and seizure must be excluded from trial. State v. Weaver, 374 S.C. 313, 319, 649 S.E.2d 479, 482 (2007). The well-settled rule is warrantless searches are unreasonable per se unless they fall under an exception to the Fourth Amendment's warrant requirement. State v. Peters, 271 S.C. 498, 501, 248 S.E.2d 475, 476 (1978). However, “warrantless searches are allowed when the circumstances make it reasonable, within the meaning of the Fourth Amendment, to dispense with the warrant requirement.” Kentucky v. King, 563 U.S. 452, 462 (2011).

South Carolina courts have recognized several exceptions to the warrant requirement, including: (1) the search incident to lawful arrest exception; (2) the hot pursuit exception; (3) the stop and frisk exception; (4) the automobile exception; (5) the plain view exception; (6) the consent exception; and (7) the abandonment exception. State v. Brown, 401 S.C. 82, 89, 736 S.E.2d 263, 266 (2012). Pursuant to the various accepted exceptions to the warrant requirement, a warrantless search or seizure will generally withstand constitutional scrutiny so long as the circumstances establish the existence of an exception along with the existence of probable cause. State v. Bultron, 318 S.C. 323, 331-332, 457 S.E.2d 616, 621 (Ct. App. 1995).

One of the recognized exceptions to the warrant requirement is the consent exception. See Birchfield v. North Dakota, \_\_\_ U.S. \_\_\_, 136 S. Ct. 2160, 2185 (2016) (“It is well established that a search is reasonable when the subject consents[.]”). Pursuant to the consent exception, an officer can validly conduct a warrantless search of a constitutionally-protected area when he or

she receives consent from an individual with authority or apparent authority to grant such consent and the consent is provided freely and voluntarily. See State v. Adams, 377 S.C. 334, 339, 659 S.E.2d 272, 275 (Ct. App. 2008) (holding warrantless searches and seizures are constitutionally permissible when conducted under the authority of **voluntary** consent); see also State v. Laux, 344 S.C. 374, 377, 544 S.E.2d 276, 277 (2001) (recognizing consent may be valid if the person granting consent reasonably appeared to have the apparent authority to grant the consent). “Whether a consent to search was voluntary or the product of duress or coercion, express or implied, is a question of fact to be determined from the totality of the circumstances.” State v. Mattison, 352 S.C. 577, 584, 575 S.E.2d 852, 855 (Ct. App. 2003) (citing State v. Wallace, 269 S.C. 547, 238 S.E.2d 675 (1977); State v. Brannon, 347 S.C. 85, 552 S.E.2d 773 (Ct.App.2001); State v. Dorce, 320 S.C. 480, 465 S.E.2d 772 (Ct.App.1995); see also Palacio v. State, 333 S.C. 506, 511 S.E.2d 62 (1999) (existence of consent is determined from totality of circumstances)). Factors to consider when determining whether consent was validly provided include the characteristics of the individual providing consent, which include the individual’s age, maturity, education, intelligence, and experience, and the conditions under which the consent was granted, which include the conduct of the officer asking for consent, the number of officers present, and the duration of the encounter. United States v. Boone, 245 F.3d 352, 361-362 (4th Cir. 2001). Significantly, the State bears the burden of establishing the voluntariness of consent, and the issue of whether consent was freely and voluntarily given is a question of fact to be determined from the totality of the circumstances. Boone, 245 F.3d at 361-362; Schneckloth v. Bustamonte, 412 U.S. 218, 93 S.Ct. 2041, 36 L.Ed.2d 854 (1973); State v. Harris, 277 S.C. 274, 286 S.E.2d 137 (1982); Wallace, 269 S.C. at 550, 238 S.E.2d at 676; Brannon, 347 S.C. at

89-90, 552 S.E.2d at 775; Dorce, 320 S.C. at 482, 465 S.E.2d at 773; see also Palacio, 333 S.C. at 514, 511 S.E.2d at 66 (on motion to suppress, State has burden of proving validity of consent).

The issue of voluntary consent, when contested by contradicting testimony, is an issue of credibility to be determined by the trial court and a trial court's "conclusions on issues of fact regarding voluntariness will not be disturbed on appeal unless so manifestly erroneous as to be an abuse of discretion." Mattison, 352 S.C. at 584-85, 575 S.E.2d at 856 (internal citations omitted).

In Appellant's case, Katio provided verbal **and** written consent to search her apartment after Investigator Carwell expressed concerns over the safety of Katio's daughter. Investigator Carwell's concerns over Katio's ability to provide a safe environment for her daughter were valid and understandable—the two-year-old girl was found unrestrained in a vehicle; the girl then was a passenger during a car chase (while still unrestrained), and a loaded weapon was found in her diaper bag. Katio testified numerous times that while her daughter's safety was her paramount concern, she had no problem with officers searching her home. The trial court specifically found the testimony from Katio and her sister that Investigator Carwell threatened to take her daughter into DSS custody if she refused to consent to a search **not** credible. The trial court concluded "[Katio's] consent was freely and voluntarily given and not as a result of any attempts to intimidate her by threatening the use of DSS to take her child." (R. 118). These findings are supported by the record and do not amount to an abuse of discretion. The trial court properly determined Katio's consent to search was voluntarily given and denied Appellant's motion to suppress. See State v. Arrowood, 375 S.C. 359, 365, 652 S.E.2d 438, 441 (Ct. App. 2007) ("Factual conclusions as to the voluntariness of a statement will not be disturbed on appeal unless so manifestly erroneous as to show an abuse of discretion."); State v. Saltz, 346 S.C. 114,

136, 551 S.E.2d 240, 252 (2001) (“When reviewing a trial court’s ruling concerning voluntariness, [the appellate court] does not reevaluate the facts based on its own view of the preponderance of the evidence, but simply determines whether the trial court’s ruling is supported by any evidence.”); State v. Reed, 332 S.C. 35, 43, 503 S.E.2d 747, 751 (1998) (“The trial judge’s determination of the voluntariness will not be disturbed unless so manifestly erroneous as to show an abuse of discretion amounting to an error of law.”). Appellant’s convictions should be affirmed.<sup>1</sup>

---

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